95121-7

FILED

Court of Appeals No. 34334-1-III

OCT 0 9 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By_____

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

EDUARDO CHAVEZ,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID P. GARDNER, WSBA #39331 CARL E. HUEBER, WSBA #12453 WINSTON & CASHATT 1900 Bank of America Financial Center 601 West Riverside Avenue Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 838-6131

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Eduardo Chavez, the individual appellant in the case below and defendant at trial.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division III, issued a decision on September 7, 2017, affirming the trial court's verdict finding Mr. Chavez guilty of second degree rape. On September 26, 2017, Mr. Chavez moved in the Court of Appeals to have that opinion published. At the time of filing this Petition for Review, Mr. Chavez's motion to publish had not been ruled upon by the Court of Appeals.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a trial court abuse its discretion when it refuses to admit evidence under ER 608(a) that the accuser in a rape trial had a reputation at school for untruthfulness, where the only witnesses to the alleged crime are the accuser and the accused a proper foundation for the admission of that evidence has been laid, and the court declines to specify what foundational element it finds lacking?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Eduardo Chavez with the second degree rape of A.S. (CP 1) The State's theory at trial was that Mr. Chavez raped A.S.

while she was passed out or asleep. (RP 525) Mr. Chavez claims A.S. consented to the intercourse and that no crime was committed. (RP 534)

At trial, the State supported its theory of the case, in part, by introducing the testimony of S.B., a friend of A.S. who was not present during the alleged crime, but was the first person A.S. confided in the day after the alleged rape. (RP 174, 290-96)

On cross-examination of S.B., the defense was prepared to elicit testimony that A.S. had a reputation as a liar at Weston Middle School. (RP 298-319) S.B. testified that she did not initially believe that A.S. had been raped, and the defense asked her why:

- Q (By Mr. McCool) Okay. Is the reason that you were having a hard time believing her related to your own experience with her?
- A Yes.
- Q Okay. And you have gone to school with her off and on since at least second grade down at Ferndale?
- A Yes.
- Q And then you went to school with her at Central?
- A Yes.
- Q And then you went to school with her down at Weston?
- A Yes.

Q And during that time if you added up all the students in all the grades that you had been with her, you have been around probably at least a hundred different people that had interaction with you and her; isn't that right?

A Yes.

(RP 298, ln. 16 - 299, ln. 5)

Having established the first elements of a foundation for admission of evidence that A.S. had a reputation for untruthfulness, the defense prepared to complete the job and asked S.B. if she was "aware of [A.S.'s] reputation in the school community" (RP 299, ln. 6) Before S.B. could respond, the court excused the jury at the State's request. (RP 299, ln. 8-18)

Outside of the presence of the jury, the court required the defense to make an offer of proof, which it did:

- Q So, Miss [B.], you have been acquainted with in the school setting -- in the school community you have been acquainted with probably at least hundreds of people that have been acquainted with you and [A.S.]; haven't you?
- A Yes.
- Q Okay. And are you aware of her reputation in that school community for truthfulness or untruthfulness?
- A Yes.
- Q And what is that reputation?
- A She wasn't doing very good.
- Q Wasn't doing very good with the truth?

A Yeah.

. .

- Q Okay. When is the most recent that you have heard about the reputation for truthfulness?
- A I don't know for sure.
- Q Well, for example, have you heard about that truthfulness since you went to school in Weston with her?
- A Yeah.
- Q Okay. And that was just last year; wasn't it?
- A Yes.

(RP 300, ln. 16 - 301, ln. 15)

The State conducted voir dire, focusing on the specifics of the source of S.B.'s knowledge and the idea that it could be based on "rumors." (RP 302-07) Among the evidence solicited by the State was S.B.'s testimony that she was aware A.S. had a reputation for untruthfulness because A.S. herself had told S.B. that "people think she is a liar." (RP 306, ln. 22-23)

At the close of the State's inquiry, the court ruled from the bench that the evidence would not come in:

The Court finds that the relevant factors of the frequency of contact between members of the community, the amount of time known in the community and the role the person played in the community and the number of people, that that foundation has not been met and that that opinion statement with reference to truthfulness and veracity will not come in.

(RP 316, ln. 12-18)

When defense counsel followed up and asked the court to clarify its ruling, the court said simply that "the community has not been defined and the foundation has not been laid." (RP 316, ln. 24-25)

The court provided no record other than this rote recitation of the factors for ER 608(a) admission set out by this Court in State v. Land, 121 Wn. 2d 494, 500, 851 P.2d 678 (1993). (RP 316) The court failed to identify what part of the foundation it found lacking, even after the defense specifically asked, "what aspect of the foundation is the court indicating has not been met?" to which the court responded tritely, "I have made my record on that, counsel. You can move on." (RP 322)

S.B. never testified as to her personal knowledge of A.S.'s reputation in her community for untruthfulness, and the jury returned a guilty verdict. (CP 31)

V. ARGUMENT

In any case where the sole issue at trial is whether the sexual intercourse between the accuser and the defendant was consensual, evidence relating to the credibility of the principal parties involved is critical. That evidence should have been admitted and evaluated by the jury in this case. But it was not based upon a ruling that defies this Court's

precedent on ER 608(a) admission and without any explanation or justification for the ruling. The trial court abused its discretion and substantially prejudiced the defendant's rights. A new trial is necessary to correct the trial court's error.

A. This Court should accept review because the decisions of the trial and appellate courts are in direct conflict with <u>Land</u>.

This Court should accept review in this case because the Court of Appeals' decision is in direct conflict with this Court's decision in State v.

Land, 121 Wn. 2d at 500. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The trial court committed errors of law and fact when it found Weston Middle School was not a community.

In <u>Land</u>, this Court was faced with the question of defining a "community" under ER 608(a). It did so by siding with the "number of state and federal courts [that] have adopted [a] functional understanding of 'community' for purposes of rule 608." <u>Land</u>, at 498. Recognizing that the purpose of the rule is "to facilitate testimony from those who know a witness's reputation for truthfulness so that the trier of fact can properly evaluate witness credibility," the <u>Land</u> Court held that, "[t]o establish a valid community, the party seeking to admit the reputation evidence must show that the community is both neutral and general." <u>Land</u>, at 499-500. Courts may consider a variety of factors including "the frequency of

contact between members of the community, the amount of time a person is known in the community, the role a person plays in the community, and the number of people in the community." Id. at 500.

As Judge Siddoway points out in her dissent below, the trial court's ruling on S.B.'s reputation testimony was "puzzling" for a variety of reasons. (Dissent, p. 9) The defense had clearly established that S.B. had personal knowledge of A.S.'s reputation, and the evidence solicited through S.B. related only to A.S's character for untruthfulness, as required by the rule. (Id. at 9-10) Neither the State nor the court challenged the relevancy of the testimony.

In its brief ruling on the matter, the trial court focused **solely** on the Land factors. (RP 316) The majority boldly claims that the trial court "did not take the bait" on the community issue. (Opinion, p. 7) But the Land factors, which the majority admits the trial court relied on, go **exclusively** to the definition of "community" for the purposes of ER 608(a). The trial court **twice** mentioned "community" and declined to say anything further about the foundation laid.

There is no reasonable conclusion other than that the trial court believed Weston Middle School was not A.S.'s community, and excluded

the evidence on that basis. That conclusion is in direct conflict with <u>Land</u>. (See Dissent, p. 10-11)¹

B. The trial court's abuse of discretion creates an issue of substantial public interest because it confuses practitioners and courts regarding the meaning of ER 608(a) and the process for admitting evidence under the rule.

In Washington, the Rules of Evidence provide a single method for attacking the credibility of an accuser: the admission of reputation testimony. ER 608(a). The right to impeach one's accuser is "especially crucial in a rape case where, more often than in other cases, the testimony of the victim is critical in establishing guilt or innocence." State v. Harlow, 99 Wn. 2d 1, 24, 659 P.2d 514 (1983) (Utter, J., dissenting). More so than any other trial, "there is a crying need for credibility evidence [in rape cases]; there are rarely eyewitnesses, and the trial frequently becomes a swearing contest." EDWARD J. IMWINKELRIED, EVIDENTIARY FOUNDATIONS §5.06[1], at 221 (9th ed. 2015). This can only be done by attacking the accuser's reputation for untruthfulness. Direct evidence of an accuser's acts of untruthfulness are not admissible in Washington, unlike the majority of states or under the Federal Rules. (Dissent, p. 4-5)

¹ Judge Siddoway points out that <u>Land</u> involved a child rape case where the defense successfully introduced reputation evidence against the accuser through one of the accuser's former schoolteachers "to question [the accuser's] reputation for truthfulness within the school community." Dissent, p. 11; see also <u>Land</u> at 496.

Relevant evidence is defined as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Evidence tending to establish a party's theory, or to qualify or disprove the testimony of an adversary, is relevant evidence. Lamborn v. Phillips Pac. Chem. Co., 89 Wn. 2d 701, 706, 575 P.2d 215 (1978); Maicke v. RDH, Inc., 37 Wn. App. 750, 752, 683 P.2d 227 (1984). Under the modern rules of evidence, the threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low, and even minimally relevant evidence is admissible. Kappelman v. Lutz, 167 Wn. 2d 1, 217 P.3d 286 (2009).

The ruling by the trial court, as affirmed by the majority, creates a substantial risk of abuse under ER 608(a) and confuses practitioners and courts. Instead of requiring the defense to provide a foundation for relevant evidence, the Court of Appeals' decision permits trial courts to also require a proffer under ER 608(a) to convince a judge that the witness's testimony is credible and of sufficient weight. This standard usurps the role of the jury in criminal trials and cannot be permitted to stand.

1. The decision to exclude ER 608(a) testimony here is manifestly unreasonable.

Generally, any evidence tending to make a fact of consequence more or less likely that is not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect should be admitted. ER 401, 402. S.B.'s testimony was clearly admissible, and the failure to admit it was error because Weston Middle School is A.S.'s community under any common sense definition of the word.

In <u>Callahan</u>, a trial court abused its discretion by excluding reputation testimony regarding the defendant's reputation for peacefulness in his work community. <u>State v. Callahan</u>, 87 Wn. App. 925, 935-36, 943 P.2d 676 (1997). Division Two specifically found that the night shift at Weyerhaeuser was a community under ER 608(a). <u>Id</u>. at 936.

Similarly, in <u>Land</u>, this Court affirmed the admission of reputation evidence regarding the defendant's reputation for veracity in a very small, but close-knit, "wood shook industry." <u>Land</u>, at 500. That Court specifically found that Land's "numerous personal contacts with various members of the industry," even though they were few, were sufficient to form a community. <u>Id</u>.

Finally, in <u>Carol M.D.</u>, Division Three held the trial court abused its discretion by excluding reputation testimony about an alleged victim's

reputation for truthfulness from a member of his Boy Scouts troop. State v. Carol M.D., 89 Wn. App. 77, 94-95, 948 P.2d 837 (1997). While that decision is silent with respect to the size of the troop or the amount of time the alleged victim spent with the troop's members, surely it is smaller and less frequent than junior high school.

These cases demonstrate that "community" is a fluid concept. Some communities are large and some are small; some people can form reputations without playing a major role within that community while others remain anonymous. The important thing is to be sure that the reputation discussed at trial is an earned one with its basis outside of the personal opinion of the impeaching witness and rooted in the opinion of those that know the impeached witness best. <u>Land</u>, at 498-99.

S.B. testified that she had known A.S. for many years, that they remained friends and attended the same schools since the second grade, that A.S. was known within her school community, that the community of students at Weston was small by comparison but fed by a number of outlying rural schools and, therefore, neutral and general, and that A.S.'s reputation for veracity within that community was poor. It is understood that students at public schools spend approximately 40 hours per week attending school, and that does not account for time before and after school with the same students.

This trial was **only** about credibility. Two people tell two different stories. One story is a crime, the other is not. This jury's sole job was to examine and determine the credibility of those two people and the other witnesses testifying in their support.

S.B. testified that Weston Middle School was a community and that A.S. had a reputation in that community for lying. That testimony was admissible evidence bearing directly on the sole issue at trial. And it was kept from the jury without explanation or justification by the court. That decision was manifestly unreasonable and an abuse of discretion.

2. The decision to exclude ER 608(a) testimony here is untenable and is bad policy.

When excluding S.B.'s testimony, the trial court simply recited the non-exclusive factors mentioned in <u>Land</u>. The trial court did not say what was lacking from S.B.'s testimony. Mr. Chavez submits that is because the trial court had no basis to exclude it. Simply put, if a person's regularly attended middle school is not a community, for the purposes of ER 608(a), then no such community can ever exist. When in one's life would she have more regular, continuous contact with a large group of neutral and general people than the years spent in school? The ruling defies logic.

The State argues that the reputation evidence solicited through S.B. was mere "junior high school rumors," suggesting it was not, in fact,

A.S.'s general reputation, only how a few middle school students felt about her. RP 307, 314. But that is a decision for the jury, not the judge. A jury is entirely capable of hearing reputation evidence and weighing its credibility, just like the jury weighs all other evidence at trial. The question before the judge was whether Weston Middle School is A.S.'s community. And it clearly is.

A.S.'s veracity is a central, critical aspect of Mr. Chavez's defense. In any case where the two principal parties tell wildly diverging stories, evidence that one of them has a reputation for lying is important testimony that the jury should hear and consider. There was no risk of prejudice by allowing S.B. to testify that she knows A.S. has a reputation at school for being a liar. The State would have every opportunity to attack that testimony and argue its theory of that testimony's credibility to the jury. But there is substantial and irreparable harm to the defendant's case by excluding it. The case should be retried and the testimony allowed.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review because the majority's decision in this matter cannot be countenanced if ER 608(a) is to have any meaning in Washington. If the majority is correct, then no evidence would ever be admissible under the rule and, as a result, the veracity of a witness at trial would become impossible to attack. Such a state is neither just nor fair.

Further, the decision is in direct conflict with <u>Land</u> decision and the basic tenets of admission of admissible evidence in Washington trials.