COA No. 34334-1-III

NO. 95121-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EDUARDO CHAVEZ,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO REVIEW

Respectfully submitted:

by: Teresa Chen, WSBA 31762 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Toose Cle

P.O. Box 5889 Pasco, Washington 99301 (509) 545-3561

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

V. ARGUMENT

The sole issue on appeal was whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to admit opinion testimony on the credibility of the minor-aged rape victim under the guise of so-called "reputation" evidence. This petition does not present any issue deserving of discretionary review.

A. THE PETITION DOES NOT DEMONSTRATE ANY CONFLICT OF CASE LAW.

The Defendant claims the unpublished opinion conflicts with *State* v. Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 851 P.2d 678 (1993). Petition for Review at 6

(citing RAP 13.4(b)(1)). In fact, the opinion specifically relied upon, applied, and followed *State v. Land*. Unpublished Opinion at 6-8.

Relying upon the *Land* factors, the trial court considered the frequency of contact between community members, the amount of time the victim had been known in the community, and her role in the community. Unpub. Op. at 8. The victim had only been at Weston Middle School a short time in her short life, and then she was in a different grade than the witness. The witness had spoken with her own classmates, not the victim's classmates. The record did not establish that these people knew the victim well or for any length of time. And the record did not establish that their opinions were based on actual general reputation, but only their personal opinions about the veracity of the rape allegation, i.e. an event that occurred after the victim had changed schools. Those opinions appeared to have been formed after the victim had left their community.

Applying the established law and standards, the Unpublished Opinion upheld the trial court's discretionary decision (to exclude evidence where the *Land* factors had not been satisfied) as tenable. *Id*.

The majority noted the Defendant's argument had misrepresented the trial court's ruling to be that a school cannot be a community. Opening Brief of Appellant at 5, 8. The court of appeals noted that "the record does not read as Mr. Chavez argues it does." Unpub. Op. at 6.

THE COURT:

Yeah. No, it is not coming in,

counsel.

MR. MCCOOL:

And, again, are you indicating it is

because it is fifth and sixth graders?

THE COURT:

No. I'm indicating the foundation has

not been met.

RP 322. "Trial counsel attempted to bait the court into ruling that a school was not a community, but the trial judge declined to bite on the argument. RP 321-322." Unpub. Op. at 7.

This interpretation of the factual record does not establish a conflict of case law. The majority opinion did not create new law or disagree with any case law. It only applied decades-old decisions of the Washington Supreme Court. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 822 P.2d 177 (1991) (five factor test for admitting reputation testimony); *State v. Land*, *supra*, (defining a "community" under ER 608).

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETIONARY DECISION TO EXCLUDE IMPROPER EVIDENCE DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

The Defendant claims that, because the application of *Land* prevented him from presenting what amounted to mean girl opinion testimony, that this presents an issue of substantial public interest.

Petition for Review at 8 (RAP 13.4(b)(4)). It does not. The court appropriately investigated and excluded so-called reputation testimony that lacked a proper foundation.

A trial court "may" admit evidence of a witness' reputation to attack or support the witness' credibility. ER 608(a). "The standard of review for challenges to the foundation of reputation testimony is abuse of discretion." *Boyd v. Kulczyk*, 115 Wn. App. 411, 416, 63 P.3d 156, 160 (2003).

The trial court excluded the so-called reputation testimony on foundational grounds. The party seeking to admit the evidence must lay a proper foundation. Unpub. Op. at 6 (citing *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 873, 822 P.2d 177 (1991) (quoting 5A KARL B. TEGLAND, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: EVIDENCE LAW AND PRACTICE § 231, at 202-204 (3d ed. 1989)). The evidence is limited to reputation for truth and veracity in the witness' own community in a relevant period of time. *Id.* In determining a valid community, the court considers the size of the community, frequency of contact, time known in the community, and the role the person play in the community. Unpub. Op. at 7 (quoting *State v. Land*, 121 Wn.2d at 500).

Ms. Breeding spoke with 3-5 people at a skate park regarding

whether they believed the rape had taken place. RP 300-02, 318. From that conversation, Ms. Breeding was prepared to testify as to A.S.'s reputation for truthfulness in the community. The Defendant argues that whether the evidence was "only how a few middle school students felt" is a decision for the jury, not the judge. Petition at 12. If the evidence is only the opinions of a few people, it is not general reputation evidence. This is the proper subject for a court's evidentiary ruling. It is also proper for a trial court to control evidence so that the jury's time is not wasted by a general swearing contest of little probative value. ER 403.

The superior court found the foundation was not met, because the Defendant had not established a valid community. RP 316. The court of appeals found this to be tenable.

Mr. Chavez sought to impeach A.S. with her alleged reputation at her former school, one that she had only attended for a portion of her eighth grade year. The witness was not even a classmate, but a student who had trailed her through the years at various schools. It appears that the children to whom S.B. had talked were her classmates rather than A.S.'s, although the record is less than clear on that point. There was no discussion about how well those children knew A.S. nor how long they had known her or her purported reputation. It also is very unclear that they were reporting an actual reputation as opposed to their personal opinions about A.S. It was also unclear whether the reputation was recent rather than one developed years previously in her grade school days. In short, S.B. did not

provide sufficient information to establish the foundation recognized in *Land*.

Unpublished Opinion at 6-8 (emphasis added).

The record does not establish who the 3-5 speakers were or what familiarity they may have had with A.S. at what period in her life. That is, we have no information as to the frequency of contact factor. Nor do we know the role A.S. played in the community such that her business would be known to others generally or these 3-5 others specifically. Because A.S. transferred schools due to bullying (RP 195-97) and because she spent time with friends who were several years younger than her (RP 200), it is not likely she was well known by her classmates or played any significant role in her class such that she had any reputation at all in the community. All we know is that there are approximately two hundred students at Weston (RP 306), and that A.S. was at Weston for less than a year. RP 195-97.

Whether Ms. Breeding's friends would know A.S. is likewise doubtful. A.S. was in a different year than Ms. Breeding. RP 313. They

¹ The State reasonably disputes the Defendant's claims that Weston Middle School students spend as many hours in each other's company as adults do in the work place or that A.S. "regularly attended." Petition at 11-12. This is neither the record nor the statistic. ER 201(b). Students have shorter school days and longer vacations than adults. The record did not inquire into the breadth of A.S.'s truancy during her abbreviated and friendless stay at Weston.

only had "some" friends in common. RP 197. They had different school experiences. A.S. was bullied; Ms. Breeding was popular. RP 196, 198. Where Ms. Breeding had both her parents, A.S. was raised by her grandparents and struggled with her father's many issues. RP 138-40, 155, 160, 329. A.S. did not hang out with classmates, but with an unusual band of companions. RP 155-59, 161-64, 200, 262-66.

A valid community must be "'neutral enough [and] generalized enough to be classed as a community.' " *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 874, 822 P.2d 177 (1991) (quoting *Parker v. State*, 458 So.2d 750, 753-54 (Fla.1984)). A.S. denied telling any youth about the rape other than Ms. Breeding, A.B., and M.B.. RP 218. Ms. Breeding was not protective of A.S.'s privacy. She discussed the matter in a public skate park and claims she does not even remember with whom. Perhaps Ms. Breeding is the source of the rumors, and her listeners merely congenially agreed that A.S.'s behavior when she disclosed to Ms. Breeding did not fit their expectations of how a rape victim should act. These few kids at the skate park who chose to judge a rape allegation without personal knowledge of the events are neither neutral nor sufficiently generalized to be classified as a community.

The Petitioner cites three cases in support of his claim. Petition at

10-11. The first two are plainly distinguishable on the facts. And the third provides no facts from which to make a comparison.

In *State v. Land*, the defendant objected to the admission of his bad reputation for truthfulness in the manufacturing community. *State v. Land*, 121 Wn.2d at 496. Relying on *State v. Swenson*, 62 Wn.2d 259, 283, 382 P.2d 614 (1963), he argued that one's community is defined as "where a person lives, not where that person works." *State v. Land*, 121 Wn.2d at 496, 497. The *Land* court overruled *Swenson* and created our current rule. And it held that there was a sufficient foundation where Land had operated as a salesman in a close-knit community for several years, making numerous personal contacts with various members of the industry and had a well-known bad reputation for veracity. *Id.* at 500.

In *State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. 925, 934, 943 P.2d 676 (1997), the case was reversed to permit Callahan to argue self-defense. The opinion also instructed that on remand the defendant could present evidence of his reputation in his workplace community for peacefulness, where this had previously been excluded under *Swenson*. *State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. at 936. After *Land*, Callahan's workplace satisfied the meaning of a community where he was an adult who worked seven days a week at the Weyerhauser plant with 1,100 people who "were,

in many ways, better positioned to have opinions regarding Callahan's reputation than the community in which he resided." *State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. at 935-36 ("assuming it is not objectionable" on other grounds).

State v. Carol M.D., 89 Wn. App. 77, 948 P.2d 837, 847 (1997), review granted, cause remanded sub nom. State v. Doggett, 136 Wn.2d 1019, 967 P.2d 548 (1998) provides no analysis of the point.. Like Callahan, the decision in Carol M.D. was reversed on grounds unrelated to the suppression of reputation evidence. State v. Carol M.D., 89 Wn. App. at 88 (reversed for erroneous admission of child hearsay statements); Id at 96 n. 3 ("The trial court's decision to exclude [reputation] testimony is not a basis, by itself, to reverse Mrs. D.'s conviction."). Like Callahan, the lower court had excluded reputation testimony under the out-dated Swenson definition of reputation. As the Defendant notes, there is no other information, other than the improper reliance on Swenson, to explain the ruling. Petition at 11 (Carol M.D. did not analyze the foundation under the Land factors). Accordingly, nothing more can be interpreted from this case.

The court of appeals could have affirmed the lower court on any number of grounds. *State v. Huynh*, 107 Wn. App. 68, 74, 26 P.3d 290, 294 (2001) (reviewing court need not rely on the rationale provided by the

lower court, but may affirm on any grounds supported by the record).

Ms. Breeding had two types of possible testimony to offer. First, she had personal knowledge of instances when A.S. had lied to a parent about having permission to visit a friend or to a teacher about completing an assignment. RP 305. This would be inadmissible under ER 404(b) (excluding evidence of specific bad acts offered to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity with character). Even if Ms. Breeding knew that others believed A.S. to be a liar in this capacity, and that is not the record, it would have been collateral to A.S.'s credibility on a rape allegation. See ER 403 (probative value substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice); State v. Griswold, 98 Wn. App. 817, 991 P.2d 657 (2000) (court did not abuse its discretion in excluding impeachment of child victim with prior false statement where the matter was collateral to allegations of sexual abuse). The suggestion that a child's past white lie about a late homework assignment was proof of a fixed character of dishonesty which would speak to a tendency to lie about a rape would be unfairly prejudicial and not at all probative of the truth.

And, second, Ms. Breeding had a conversation with a few kids on the subject of the rape allegation. RP 302 ("They were just saying how she was raped and that they didn't believe her"), 318. Their opinions as to her veracity on the specific rape allegation do not amount to general reputation evidence under ER 608(a)(1). *State v. Land*, 121 Wn.2d at 500 ("evidence based solely on personal opinion is disallowed") (citing ER 608 comment). The rule only admits a reputation for having a "character for truthfulness or untruthfulness," and only if "the reputation is drawn from the community's perceptions, not personal opinion." *Boyd v. Kulczyk*, 115 Wn. App. at 416. No witness may opine on ultimate issues of the defendant's or victim's credibility on the charged offense, because it is said to invade the exclusive fact-finding province of the jury. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 927, 155 P.3d 125, 131 (2007).

A witness's expression of personal belief about the veracity of another witness is inappropriate opinion testimony in criminal trials. *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wash.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). Admission of such testimony may be reversible error. *State v. Demery*, 144 Wash.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001).

State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 817, 265 P.3d 853, 857 (2011); See also State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125, 131 (2007).

The court may also have found the evidence to be unreliable. Ms. Breeding could not remember who had made the statements, when, and her memory as to the number of speakers kept going down and down in number. RP 304 (eight to ten people), RP 318 (three to five people).

The court could have excluded the evidence under ER 403 as unhelpful and a confusing waste of the jury's time. Uninformed opinions on matters for which one has no personal knowledge are irrelevant, without probative value, and unduly prejudicial. ER 402; ER 403; ER 602. Ms. Breeding's testimony about others' opinions would also have been inadmissible as hearsay. ER 801(c); ER 802. And it was inadmissible under ER 701 as opinion testimony by a lay witness that was not based on any witness' perception, not based on any specialized knowledge, and not helpful to the trier of fact.

The court may also have excluded the testimony, because A.S. was too young to have a formed character for truthfulness or untruthfulness. *State v. Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d. 875, 890, 329 P.3d 888 (2014) (one of the primary differences between children and adults is that "children's characters are not well formed, meaning that their actions are less likely than adults to be evidence of depravity"); *In re Lundy*, 82 Wash. 148, 152, 143 P. 885, 887 (1914) ("there is ordinarily a lack of mature discretion, discriminating judgment, and stability of character in children under the age of 18 years"); ER 609(d) (evidence of juvenile adjudications found beyond a reasonable doubt are still generally not admissible).

VI. CONCLUSION

Based upon the forgoing, the State respectfully requests this Court deny the petition for discretionary review.